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1        going to say to everybody here, there are people in this

2        room -- in fact, the vast majority of the people in this

3        room who want to speak will not be able to speak tonight,

4        and I apologize to you.  We will make every effort to get

5        through this evening quickly and efficiently, but your

6        voices, that's why we're here; we want to hear what you have

7        to say.  And we want to hear from as many people in this

8        room as possible.  And so that's why timing is very

9        important.  And we have perhaps the toughest job in the room

10        today is keeping time.  And Lorraine Pearson, I want to

11        thank you in advance for your work.  And I'd ask everyone

12        here to respect her job and everybody in the room by please

13        keeping your comments to five minutes.  There's a clock

14        here; I have no idea if that works. 

15                     DIRECTOR PARKER:  Three minutes. 

16                     UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:   The clock is a

17        three-minute clock.

18                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Oh, did I say three (sic) minutes?

19        Okay.  Three minutes is even better.  Let me also say this:

20        So just because you have three minutes doesn't mean you need

21        to take three minutes.  Okay?  And I need to remember that,

22        too.  So I also want to say this, very, very quickly.  If

23        you need an interpreter for Spanish speakers, please

24        advise -- please let us know.  The interpreter's name is

25        Nancy Chuquimia, Chuquimia (pronouncing).  I apologize for
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1        hearings that have been on all sides of this issue.  And I

2        have been deeply grateful to the people who have attended

3        these for the respect that they have shown on both sides. 

4        So please remember that.  I will pound on the table with the

5        gavel from time to time if necessary.  It's not the most

6        effective way of keeping order, so I ask for your assistance

7        in that. 

8                     Let me also finally say this:  This is an issue

9        that is very, very disturbing.  The allegations are serious,

10        and they relate very specifically to the conduct of

11        circulators retained by or engaged by the Michigan Civil

12        Rights Initiative.  So while the affirmative action debate

13        is clearly the content of the initiative, the issue that

14        we're discussing this evening is the behavior or the conduct

15        of circulators, the individuals who were obtaining the

16        signatures on their clipboards, on their petitions.  So I

17        ask you -- and I will unfortunately and elegantly interrupt

18        you if you're not talking about that particular issue,

19        because there are so many other issues that need to be

20        discussed.  What we're talking about tonight is the issue of

21        conduct of circulators for the MCRI.  So please, please

22        limit your comments, your remarks.  We well certainly limit

23        our questions to those, that particular specific narrow,

24        narrow, narrow issue.  Okay?  

25                     I'm just going to ask the Commissioners to
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1                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Please, no -- thank you.  Welcome.

2                     MR. WOMACK:  Thank you, very much. 

3                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  And I apologize.  If you could,

4        please stand and raise your right arm.  Everybody who is

5        testifying today is doing so under oath, so I appreciate

6        that.  If you could, turn.  Our reporter is to your left. 

7                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

8        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

9                     MR. WOMACK:  I do. 

10                     REPORTER:  I need you to spell your name for the

11        record.

12                     MR. WOMACK:  Robert, R-o-b-e-r-t, Womack, W-o-m-a-

13        c-k. 

14                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you, Robert.  Please

15        proceed.  

16                                    ROBERT WOMACK

17                         having been called and sworn:

18                     MR. WOMACK:  Basically I'm here today to speak on

19        behalf of the community of Grand Rapids, Michigan.  We do a

20        radio show on WJNZ 1140 AM, the Pulse of the City.  A week

21        out into this meeting we felt there was no community support

22        of this meeting or the knowledge wasn't out there.  So what

23        we begin to do is we invited BAMN in, and we spoke about the

24        issue.  Two days later we felt that some awareness was

25        there, but it was not to the seriousness of this issue.  So
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1        there on that meeting where they were instructed to go out. 

2                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Robert, when you say "pollster,"

3        do you mean circulators?

4                     MR. WOMACK:  Circulators. 

5                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  Individuals who went to

6        obtain the signatures? 

7                     MR. WOMACK:  Yes.  She was a circulator that went

8        out to get petitions.  She said she was lied to, 'cause I

9        also asked the circulators to come in or call in to the show

10        and let us know why they would do such a thing for money. 

11        And this one particularly was lied to.  I don't think they

12        all were, because we came across other polsters that were

13        hired from a different location that said they knew what

14        they were doing.  But this location specifically had lied to

15        some of the circulators.  So basically I just came out here

16        to support our community, those that were duped.  I want to

17        thank you, the Michigan Civil Rights Commission, for taking

18        this very serious, 'cause voter fraud, it goes against

19        everything that fair elections are for.  It goes against the

20        very basics of our constitution, and I wish you good luck in

21        your endeavors. 

22                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Robert, thank you.  Robert, if you

23        could please remain seated.  A few questions.  The people

24        that called into your show, were they from a particular

25        neighborhood, or was there one location that was more
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1        Kelvin, members of the department staff who are here, if you

2        could, please stand or wave your arm and identify yourself. 

3        If you want to speak, please make your way to one of these

4        individuals and make sure that you've completed one of these

5        orange forms.  That will make sure that we're able to at

6        least do our best to get to you this evening.  Any other

7        questions for Mr. Womack?  Thank you very much, sir. 

8                     MR. WOMACK:  Thank you. 

9                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Harry Campbell.  I'm going to read

10        off in advance a few names, so that if you're on this list

11        you can -- you'll know that you're on deck.  Harry Campbell,

12        Theo Bates, Delicia Adams, Deron Jackson.  Those are some of

13        the next names that I have coming.  So if you could, please

14        raise your right arm.  

15                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

16        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

17                     MR. CAMPBELL:  I do. 

18                     REPORTER:  Please spell your name for the record.

19                     MR. CAMPBELL:  Harry Campbell, H-a-r-r-y  C-a-m-p-

20        b-e-l-l. 

21                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome.  Thank you for being

22        here.  

23                                   HARRY CAMPBELL

24                         having been called and sworn:

25                     MR. CAMPBELL:   Thank you.  First of all, I would
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1        just like to say that I'm a newly elected official for the

2        Board of Education.  And my name is on here.  And in the

3        midst of my campaign while I was running, I was approached

4        by an individual who was circulating the petition in the

5        Family Food Madison Square area.  And what I did notice

6        about this, that every canvasser was black.  And I feel that

7        they were basically targeted and located to go into the

8        urban communities and get these signatures, because we are

9        in hard times, and people basically just do anything for a

10        dollar.  So I feel that they didn't even really know what

11        they were doing.  They were just told go out and get the

12        signatures.  And I have children who I have to answer to.  I

13        had phone calls to me, and being an elected official on the

14        Board of Education, people were calling me up, saying, "Mr.

15        Campbell has just voted for segregation."  And I'm not

16        living in 1956.  We're living in 2006.  And this is fraud,

17        and it's got to go.  Because racism is one thing that I

18        don't play with.  And Grand Rapids is something else when it

19        comes down to racism.  

20                     And I'm not going to keep you long.  But I'm glad

21        you all come to Grand Rapids, because an elected official

22        said that the Spanish people are here to stay and we better

23        get used to it.  You can believe this:  Black people are

24        here to stay, and Grand Rapids better get used to it. 

25        Because I have children here, and I'm not about to let them
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1        be discriminated against, and that's one thing that I don't

2        play about.  And I have people that I have to be responsible

3        for.  And I'm not going to lie to my community.  I go

4        through my community, and I'm up close and personal with my

5        community.  And I'm not going to take back anything that I

6        said.  But I'm glad you all came, and this needs to be

7        investigated further, because we have been lied to, and I

8        have been lied to, and that's one thing that I don't do, and

9        that's lie.  But Grand Rapids, a change is coming. 

10                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Robert, let me ask you -- 

11                     MR. ABDRABBOH:  More specifically as it relates to

12        your signature, can you describe how you were lied to and

13        how you were defrauded and approximately when it happened? 

14                     MR. CAMPBELL:  It was back during, I guess, when

15        the weather was real nice, maybe about four or five months

16        ago.  I just happened to be coming out of the store.  And I

17        was very busy with what I was doing, because I was running,

18        doing my campaigns.  And I was just approached by an

19        individual.  He said, "This is to keep affirmative action." 

20        So I thought I was really, truly doing something for people,

21        whites, blacks, Hispanics, all people, because I don't look

22        at color; I look at what you've got inside.  And when I put

23        my name on there, and then my name got read on the radio,

24        and then children start calling, saying, "Mr. Campbell just

25        voted down for segregation."  Grand Rapids is still
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1        could, please raise your hand.

2                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

3        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

4                     MR. BATES:  Yes. 

5                     REPORTER:  Spell your name for the record. 

6                     MR. BATES:  Theo Bates, T-h-e-o-d-u-s  B-a-t-e-s. 

7                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Theo, thank you. 

8                     MR. BATES:  Good afternoon. 

9                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Good afternoon.

10                                    THEODUS BATES

11                         having been called and sworn:

12                     MR. BATES:  Thank you all for coming.  Appreciate

13        this very much.  Unfortunately once again it looks we've

14        been whacked.  Everybody's here for that same person.  We

15        were all approached, mislead.  I even read it.  It was so

16        fribble-frabble.  But the story remains, "This is to keep

17        affirmative action."  And just like many others, I heard my

18        name over the radio, and it's just upsetting.  But there's a

19        lot of this not only just taking place in Grand Rapids. 

20        It's happening -- or it happened out in California.  We all

21        know this.  Well, maybe not everybody.  But it did.  And the

22        way it fell is that it got crushed.  And that's what exactly

23        should happen to this, because if it's all a deceit and it's

24        deceiving, then we know who the leader's deceivers, who that

25        is, those of us who know who he is.  It's a very sad
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1                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  What were you told?  What did they

2        say to you? 

3                     MR. BATES:  I was told that this was to maintain

4        and keep affirmative action stable as the way it is or, if

5        not, get better.  The way they worded it in Ann Arbor and

6        the way they worded it here in Grand Rapids was two

7        different ways, but it was all meaning for the positive. 

8                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  So the circulator approached you

9        and said, "This is an initiative to do" -- what exactly?  To

10        keep affirmative action?  To support affirmative action, to

11        maintain it? 

12                     MR. BATES:  To keep affirmative action, support it

13        all the way out.  

14                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  That's what they said to you? 

15                     MR. BATES:  That's right.  I heard it in two

16        different locations, you know.  But the thing with me, see,

17        in all of this is not just this part of affirmative action. 

18        Fortunately I was one of the few, and I'm thankful that I

19        was able to make it home safe after this war.  But not only

20        this was I lied to about, I was lied to by my own

21        government, and that hurts; that really hurts.  So here I

22        find myself as a young man running back and forth between

23        different VA medical centers trying to figure out where

24        these spots on the lungs and the liver is coming from.  But

25        okay, I was lied to.  But nonetheless we're talking about
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1        I am a freshman at Central High School.  I'm here to testify

2        on my mother's behalf. 

3                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Central High School in? 

4                     MS. ADAMS:  In Grand Rapids, Michigan. 

5                     MS. PEARSON:  Miss, could you please talk right

6        into the mike?  Move in a little bit and just -- right

7        there. 

8                     MS. ADAMS:  I'm here to testify on my mother's

9        behalf.  She was one of the people who were lied to, and so

10        were lots of other students' parents.  My mom did not know

11        what she was -- wait a minute.  My mom did not know she was

12        signing to take away affirmative action.  She was very mad

13        about what happened.  She was told that she was signing to

14        give black kids a better education and to give them a chance

15        to go to college.  I think it's wrong to lie to people and

16        to say this is for one thing when it's actually the complete

17        opposite.  This petition is trying to take opportunities of

18        a generation of people.  It's also trying to take away my

19        opportunities and my brother and sister's opportunities, and

20        I think it's wrong to lie about that.  Grand Rapids should

21        stand up and unite in order to defeat this.  And I want to

22        go to college.  And after college I want to go to medical

23        school to be a doctor, and I don't think it's fair to lie to

24        my mom in order to take the opportunity away from me.  Thank

25        you. 
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1        And he said, "Oh, you know your stuff.  This is the perfect

2        thing to sign.  You can sign it."  So I did.  I was duped. 

3        And every time that this issue gets raised in the news, I

4        get very angry, because I was tricked.  I was tricked.  Very

5        angry. 

6                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  When you say that this -- you

7        asked him was this going to overturn -- if you could just be

8        more specific about -- or clarify that exchange and what

9        your impressions from the circulator's response were. 

10                     MS. KUPERUS:  You know, this happened two years

11        ago. 

12                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Sure. 

13                     MS. KUPERUS:  So the fine details I'm not going to

14        recall.  But I was led to believe that what I was signing

15        was going to support affirmative action, and that's why I

16        signed it. 

17                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  Are there any questions

18        from the Commission?  Thank you very much.  Thank you. 

19        Deron Jackson.  Is Deron Jackson here?  And then I have Mary

20        Brianna Schwarz and then Tina Belbot.  Thank you.  If you

21        could, please turn to the court reporter.  Thank you.

22                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

23        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

24                     MR. JACKSON:  Yes. 

25                     REPORTER:  Spell your name for the record. 
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1        S on the Pulse of the City for providing disclosure of this

2        secret information on May 17th, 2006, to our community by

3        announcing the names of innocent people throughout the whole

4        day.  Thank you.

5                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Are there any questions from the

6        Commission?  Deron, a question for you.  You said that

7        you -- did you sign the petition? 

8                     MR. JACKSON:  Yes, I did. 

9                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  And you said that the

10        tactics were deceitful.  Why do you believe that you were

11        mislead? 

12                     MR. JACKSON:  Because I was told it was for a

13        minimum wage increase.

14                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  And where did this happen? 

15        Did this happen -- did someone come to your home, or was

16        this out at a street fair?

17                     MR. JACKSON:  It was a Save-A-Lot store on Leonard

18        Northeast, a grocery store; coming out the grocery store,

19        and I was approached. 

20                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  At the Save-A-Lot store? 

21                     MR. JACKSON:  Yes. 

22                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  One what street? 

23                     MR. JACKSON:  Leonard Northeast.

24                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Are there other people here who

25        signed the petition at that location?  Yes?  One; one. 
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1        individual citizen to identify -- to recognize that they

2        were part of a trend, you know.  You sign it, you're at the

3        Save-A-Lot, you sign it, you go home.  And it's not until

4        maybe you connect with other people who you may not connect

5        with unless you hear it on the radio or you see something on

6        the web.  We live very isolated lives in lots of ways, that

7        when people come together, and sometimes it's at these

8        hearings where people look around, they said, "I didn't know

9        you signed it," and it's -- you fill in the blanks that way.

10        And that's one of the more valuable pieces of information

11        that helps us do that, to help connect the dots, put things

12        together.  So thank you very much.  I want to call Henna

13        McKinney, if you're present, and then after that Mary

14        Schwarz.  Is Henna McKinney present?  We'll move on.  Mary

15        Brianna Schwarz, are you present?  Okay.  Welcome. 

16                     (Audience applause) 

17                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Please do not applaud.  Even

18        though she may merit it, do not applaud.

19                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

20        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

21                     MS. SCHWARZ:  Yes, I do. 

22                     REPORTER:  Spell your name for the record. 

23                     MS. SCHWARZ:  Mary, M-a-r-y, Brianna, B-r-i-a-n-n-

24        a, Schwarz, S-c-h-w-a-r-z. 

25                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome.  Please proceed. 
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1        certain type of crowd to see Michael Moore.  And the

2        circulators there also expected that.  And the people -- the

3        woman that I talked to that was approached there was

4        approached and told that she was signing something to

5        support affirmative action.  

6                     And like I said, most people I talked to didn't

7        remember the circumstances and just generally thought that,

8        you know -- believed that no way would they have knowingly

9        signed to ban affirmative action. But also besides that that

10        didn't remember, they didn't believe that they had ever

11        signed any petition at all.  And I talked to my guess is of

12        the 40 people maybe like 6 or 7 people who just would not

13        believe me that they had signed a petition.  One or two of

14        these were elderly women who I had their birth date to look

15        at, so I could tell they were around 80 years old, and just

16        adamantly insisted that they have never signed a petition in

17        their life.  And that's one thing that's been kind of

18        powerful for me, because I expected to talk to people who

19        had been lied to, and it raised this whole new worry that,

20        you know, people didn't believe that they could possibly

21        have their names on here.  

22                     And just one more thing.  Last night the last call

23        I made is I talked to a woman who did remember being

24        approached with the petition.  It was when she in the Meijer

25        parking lot in Mt. Pleasant.  And she was with her husband,
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1        I have a feeling I'm mispronouncing your last name

2        horrifically. 

3                     MS. BELBOT:  It's Belbot (pronouncing). 

4                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  I wasn't far --   

5                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

6        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

7                     MS. BELBOT:  Yes, I do. 

8                     REPORTER:  Spell your name for the record. 

9                     MS. BELBOT:  T-i-n-a  B-e-l-b-o-t. 

10                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome.  Please proceed.

11                                     TINA BELBOT

12                         having been called and sworn:

13                     MS. BELBOT:  Thank you.  I feel I was tricked into

14        signing this paper.  They ran into me at Madison Square Food

15        Store telling me that this is for minimum wage, you know,

16        and it's not.  And I'm not happy.  I want my name removed.

17                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  So you were approached at the -- 

18        and told it was for minimum wage? 

19                     MS. BELBOT:  Right.  It was down at Madison Square

20        Food Town, and now it's changed; Family Fare now.  But I was

21        mislead.  They told me that this was for minimum wage.  You

22        know, I don't think it's fair.  They should take it off the

23        board.  If not, remove my name.

24                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Did you read the petition when you

25        signed it? 
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1        station over on Michigan Street right there at Fuller. 

2        Yeah, sure was.  I also witnessed it at 28th Street Save-A-

3        Lot.  I also witnessed it a whole lot of times on Madison. 

4        I've talked to several elders at the Elks Lodge who don't

5        get around a lot or some people that don't even read, and

6        that's what disturbed me more than anything.  Several of the

7        elders had said they did not sign anything.  If you need an

8        affidavit, I will go after that.  Also there were people

9        that just know that for a fact they would not back anything

10        like this.  And the consistent -- and the same people said

11        the same thing to me.  There were two stories.  The one over

12        here at the gas station, they said it was for minimum wage. 

13        But the people at Save-A-Lot, also the ones here at Madison,

14        they both said it's for affirmative -- quote, unquote, "This

15        is for affirmative action.  This is to help," quote,

16        unquote.  So they did.  

17                     So I'm basically here as the little guy, but you

18        all see that as collective we've gotten bigger.  It started

19        on the radio, started with the names.  This is good, and we

20        appreciate that you're here.  But if I came over there and I

21        knocked your little thing off or did something offensive,

22        I'd be arrested.  So basically here what we want to know is,

23        okay, we going to give you all the information.  We want and

24        we need something done. 

25                     (Audience applause) 
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1        for affirmative action, you took that to mean that it is --

2        they were supportive or to maintain it? 

3                     MS. DYER:  It's to help, right; right.  And as a

4        matter of fact, I had my son with me, and I cracked a joke. 

5        I said, "Dang.  What if it's something wrong?  They're using

6        one of us to get us." 

7                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Did that -- 

8                     (Audience applause) 

9                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Darrilyn, did that person approach

10        other people at that same location? 

11                     MS. DYER:  Yes, they did.  They were standing

12        right there at the hair store, 'cause you know we're in and

13        out of there.  So the hair store and Save-A-Lot, they were

14        right there, right in between it.  Everybody knows where it

15        is.

16                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  And how many -- and how many

17        people do you think -- 

18                     MS. DYER:  It was a male.  It was a male.  I've

19        seen a male and a female, a heavyset black female.  But I

20        also saw a male, and the same male is the one I saw at the

21        gas station a little while later.  But, you know, I figured

22        they were just moving around. 

23                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  And when you -- you said that you

24        heard two stories regarding this.  How many --  

25                     MS. DYER:  Yes.  When this came out, I went and I
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1                     MS. DYER:  I get the sense that one person had

2        them do this, and they all just did it. 

3                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Any other

4        questions from the Commission? 

5                     MS. STOKES:  Were any of those -- the ones that

6        you've just mentioned that did not sign, did any of their

7        names appear or were heard on the radio? 

8                     MS. DYER:  Yes; yes.  That's how I found them,

9        yeah; yeah. 

10                     MS. STOKES:  Yes?  Okay.  Okay.  Thank you. 

11                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Robert

12        Davidson, are you here? 

13                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

14        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

15                     MR. DAVIDSON:  I do. 

16                     REPORTER:  Would you spell your name for the

17        record? 

18                     MR. DAVIDSON:  R-o-b-e-r-t  D-a-v-i-d-s-o-n. 

19                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome. 

20                                  ROBERT DAVIDSON

21                         having been called and sworn:

22                     MR. DAVIDSON:  Thank you.  My wife and I were

23        registering voters in front of the Save-A-Lot store in

24        Kalamazoo on Stadium Drive.  There's a Save-A-Lot store and

25        there's a Good Will Store about two doors away.  Of course,
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1        this person approach? 

2                     MR. DAVIDSON:  Well, I probably interrupted him

3        three times -- two or three times I interrupted him.  But I

4        don't know how long he'd been there.  He might have been

5        there all day.  It was a Saturday afternoon, you know. 

6        There's a lot of people going in and out. 

7                     MR. SCOTT:  Was this person African American? 

8                     MR. DAVIDSON:  No.  He was white. 

9                     MR. SCOTT:  Did you see him approach anyone other

10        than the African American --  

11                     MR. DAVIDSON:  No, I didn't.  But like I said,

12        once I kind of -- I was kind of coaching everybody to read

13        this thing.  He just kind of, you know -- he knew he wasn't

14        going to get anywhere, so he just kind of got in his truck

15        and took off. 

16                     MR. SCOTT:  This was at a Save-A-Lot?  Outside of

17        a Save-A-Lot? 

18                     MR. DAVIDSON:  Yeah, another Save-A-Lot.  And my

19        question was, you know, do they get paid by the signature;

20        do they get paid by the hour? 

21                     MR. SCOTT:  Is this a Save-A-Lot in an African

22        American neighborhood? 

23                     MR. DAVIDSON:  Stadium Drive.  No, it's mixed. 

24        There's a lot of apartments, subsidized apartments around

25        there.  It's not strictly inner city, no; no.  But we figure
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1        record? 

2                     MS. RAMOS-MONTIGNY:  L-u-p-e  R-a-m-o-s, hyphen,

3        M-o-n-t-i-g-n-y. 

4                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome.  Thank you.

5                                LUPE RAMOS-MONTIGNY

6                         having been called and sworn:

7                     MS. RAMOS-MONTIGNY:  Thank you.  My name is Lupe

8        Ramos-Montigny.  I'm a school -- public school teacher,

9        seventh grade social studies.  I'm also the chair of the

10        committee to honor Cesar E. Chavez.  I'm a political

11        activist and a community activist.  And I want to salute

12        each and every one of you, because what I heard from you is

13        that this was a very important issue, and that you're going

14        all over the state to get testimony, and you included Grand

15        Rapids.  So thank you very much.  Now, two years ago I was

16        walking towards the Martin Luther King march that's

17        sponsored by the community and GRCC.  My friends and I were

18        hurriedly going to get in line to start the march.  And I

19        was approached by a young student.  To me, it looked like a

20        college student.  And he said to me, "Would you like to

21        protect affirmative action?"  Well, I am a product of

22        affirmative action.  And, of course, I want to protect

23        affirmative action.  No, I did not take time to read the

24        petition.  I trusted this young man.  I trusted the system. 

25        "I'm a political activist," I said.  I was the Kent County
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1                     MS. RAMOS-MONTIGNY:  Well, the march starts at

2        12:00 p.m.  So it must have been, like, a quarter to 12:00. 

3                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  Any questions from the

4        Commission?  Thank you very much.  

5                     MS. RAMOS-MONTIGNY:  Muchas gracias. 

6                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Therresa Holloway, are you

7        present?  After Therresa, I have Jeriline Riley and then

8        Rosie Smith.

9                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

10        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

11                     MS. HOLLOWAY:  I do. 

12                     REPORTER:  Please state and spell your name for

13        the record. 

14                     MS. HOLLOWAY:  Therresa Holloway, T-h-e-r-r-e-s-a 

15        H-o-l-l-o-w-a-y. 

16                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome. 

17                     MS. HOLLOWAY:  Hello.  How are you? 

18                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Good.  Thank you for being here.

19                                 THERRESA HOLLOWAY

20                         having been called and sworn:

21                     MS. HOLLOWAY:  Yes.  I was approached several

22        times -- 

23                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Hold on one second.  Please;

24        please.  If everybody could please be quiet.  Thank you. 

25                     MS. HOLLOWAY:  I was approached several times at
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1        a woman; then one time it was just a man. 

2                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  But with respect to the

3        affirmative action petition, that was a man or that was a

4        woman, or do you not recall?

5                     MS. HOLLOWAY:  A man. 

6                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  A man.  Okay.  And just to

7        clarify, this individual said, "Sign this to support" -- did

8        he ask you if you supported affirmative action, or did he

9        say, "Sign this to support affirmative" -- was it a question

10        or was it a statement to you? 

11                     MS. HOLLOWAY:  It was would I like to sign it to

12        support affirmative action.

13                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  Any questions from the

14        Commission? 

15                     MR. SCOTT:  Do you recall what race this person

16        was?

17                     MS. HOLLOWAY:  He was African American.

18                     MR. SCOTT:  Did you know this person? 

19                     MS. HOLLOWAY:  Yes, his face; not as far as his

20        name.

21                     MR. SCOTT:  You don't know his name? 

22                     MS. HOLLOWAY:  No.

23                     MR. SCOTT:  Is there any way that you could become

24        familiar with this person's name?  Do you know other people

25        who may know him? 
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1                     MS. HOLLOWAY:  Yes. 

2                     MR. SCOTT:  Is that something you could undertake

3        to do and maybe contact the local office here? 

4                     MS. HOLLOWAY:  Yes. 

5                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you.  Thank you very much. 

6                     DIRECTOR PARKER:  Do you know how to contact our

7        office? 

8                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Jeriline Riley.  Are you here

9        Jeriline?  Welcome Jeriline.  How are you? 

10                     MS. RILEY:  I'm fine. 

11                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Rose Smith is next. 

12                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Jeriline, if you could, raise your

13        right arm. 

14                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

15        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

16                     MS. RILEY:  Yes.  

17                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome.

18                                   JERILINE RILEY

19                         having been called and sworn:

20                     MS. RILEY:  My name is Jeriline Riley, and I

21        represent --  

22                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  One moment.  Please.  Thank you. 

23        Go ahead. 

24                     MS. RILEY:  My name is Jeriline Riley, and I

25        represent a nonprofit organization called JEFF in memory of



51c7974c-dfe1-45d3-ad0a-0cbdedd48ec8

IN THE MATTER OF:  MICHIGAN CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISION HEARING May 22, 2006IN THE MATTER OF:  MICHIGAN CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISION HEARING May 22, 2006

Page 46

1        my son who was murdered in 1994.  I am a community activist. 

2        And so when I was approached about this affirmative action

3        support as well as minimum wage, I incorporated other

4        people.  I feel so guilty.  That's why when I realized it

5        was 6:00 o'clock, I knew I had to run over here.  Because

6        I'm the kind of person if you say a petition that's going to

7        help us, everybody knows I'm at people's door and knocking

8        on them and telling people where to find the most people. 

9        And so when I was approached, because I am a

10        great-grandmother now, I was thinking I'm helping.  So I

11        called my aunts and uncles who probably wouldn't have signed

12        and said, "I'm picking you up.  We're coming down to sign

13        this petition."  I called my sons and daughters and

14        threatened them if they didn't sign it, because I didn't --

15        and be thinking I'm helping and that we were making history

16        on a positive note.  And now I feel so defeated, because

17        they listened to me, and now my credibility and my integrity

18        has also been affected, because I knew the face that came to

19        me.  And I said, "Wow, this young man is working."  And I

20        said, you know, if he's trying to be an activist, then

21        there's hope for all of us, because I never saw him working,

22        and so I was very proud of him.  And so that's how I was

23        deceived.  I was trying to keep people to keep him on a job. 

24                     And I just wanted to state that this is the second

25        time this happened to me.  I worked for the Republicans one
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1        time in about 1990-something.  And I don't have anything

2        against Republicans except our checks bounced.  And so this

3        is my second time being duped by the government or whoever

4        is behind this.  Just threw that in as a little cliche to

5        clear the air. 

6                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  I have a few questions.  Maybe we

7        should dim the lights for you.  Now, just to clarify for me

8        please, you were not a circulator?  Or you were a

9        circulator? 

10                     MS. RILEY:  No, I was not a circulator.  

11                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  You encouraged people -- 

12                     MS. RILEY:  I was approached by a circulator I

13        knew. 

14                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  I see. 

15                     MS. RILEY:  Because I had never seen him work, and

16        knew it being a community activist. 

17                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  And the circulator that you know

18        or knew --  

19                     MS. RILEY:  Knew the face of the young man.

20                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Knew the face of? 

21                     MS. RILEY:  Yes. 

22                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Is that a person you know the name

23        of also?

24                     MS. RILEY:  Well, he was a friend of my son so,

25        you know, I have that nickname, and I'd prefer not to say



51c7974c-dfe1-45d3-ad0a-0cbdedd48ec8

IN THE MATTER OF:  MICHIGAN CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISION HEARING May 22, 2006IN THE MATTER OF:  MICHIGAN CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISION HEARING May 22, 2006

Page 48

1        it.  Nobody would know who that probably is. 

2                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  I would encourage you

3        through perhaps the help of some --  

4                     MS. RILEY:  Most definitely. 

5                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  -- of the community organizers

6        here and maybe the media here to try to identify some of the

7        circulators. 

8                     MS. RILEY:  Most definitely. 

9                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  My perception is that it seems

10        like there are a relatively small number of people who -- in

11        contrast to other places that we've been who -- where there

12        are a large number of circulators who had a minimal impact

13        each.  It sounds like in Grand Rapids and in Kalamazoo and

14        surrounding areas there were a small number of circulators

15        who had a huge impact. 

16                     MS. RILEY:  Right. 

17                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  It's kind of the opposite.  So the

18        ability to find some of those individuals from an

19        organizational point of view would be, I think -- I would

20        encourage that. 

21                     MS. RILEY:  Yes. 

22                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  And I clearly don't have the

23        machinery to do that.

24                     MS. RILEY:  I will find out who he is, because he

25        owes me an apology as well as whoever's behind this.  
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1                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Sure. 

2                     MR. SCOTT:  And we can understand some hesitancy

3        if you know someone -- 

4                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Right. 

5                     MR. SCOTT:  -- and you know that they were out

6        circulating these petitions, that you may not want to give

7        their information.  But we're not looking to prosecute these

8        people.  We're not looking to persecute these people.  What

9        we're looking for is additional information.  The

10        circulators may have information as to who hired them, as to

11        the information that those people gave them, and that's

12        really the information that we want. 

13                     MS. RILEY:  Right. 

14                     MR. SCOTT:   We're not going -- we're not looking

15        to go after anyone.  Particularly we're not looking to go

16        after these circulators.  So if you do have the names and

17        contact information for some of these individuals, and

18        talking to us would be voluntary, but we would hope that

19        they would be willing to talk to us and give us more

20        information as to who hired them, who paid them, who gave

21        them instruction.  That's what we're looking for. 

22                     MS. RILEY:  Thank you.  And I do hope that -- we

23        appreciate you all coming.  We would like to hear results as

24        soon as possible from these Commission meetings, and we

25        thank you very much.
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1                     (Audience applause)  

2                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you.  Rosie Smith, are you

3        present?  Ms. Smith, thank you.  If you could, please raise

4        your right arm. 

5                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

6        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

7                     MS. SMITH:  I do. 

8                     REPORTER:  You can sit down and then state your

9        name for the record. 

10                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Edwina Cerbantes is next.

11                                     ROSIE SMITH

12                         having been called and sworn:

13                     MS. SMITH:  My name is Rosie Smith.  And the

14        reason I'm here is because someone called me Friday night

15        and told me my name was on that ballot, on that paper.  And

16        I don't know how it got on there.  If I signed it, I don't

17        remember.  But I'm here to -- I want it off.  Because he

18        went on an long time.  Then when I went in the caller ID so

19        I could see where it came from, but it was a 313 area code,

20        the person that called.  And he kept yapping.  And he said,

21        "I'm not getting anywhere with you, so I just hang up." 

22                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  You were contacted recently, Ms.

23        Smith?

24                     MS. SMITH:  Yeah, last Friday night.  That's the

25        way I know anything about this stuff.  He said my name was
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1        on there.  And I said, "Spell it."  He spelled it.  I don't

2        sign my name as "Rosie Lee."  I sign my name as "Rosie L." 

3        But it's on that paper "Rosie Lee."  Got my right address. 

4                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Are there any other questions from

5        the Commission or any questions from the Commission?  Do you

6        have anything else you'd like to add, Ms. Smith?  Thank you

7        very much.    

8                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Ms. Edwina Cerbantes.

9                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

10        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

11                     MS. CERBANTES:  I do. 

12                     REPORTER:  Sit down and then spell your name for

13        the record. 

14                     MS. CERBANTES:  E-d-w-i-n-a  C-e-r-b-a-n-t-e-s. 

15                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome.  Please proceed.

16                                 EDWINA CERBANTES

17                         having been called and sworn:

18                     MS. CERBANTES:  My names is Edwina Cerbantes.  And

19        I was approached on Franklin Street and asked to sign a

20        petition to increase minimum wage, and so I did.  And then

21        today I went online and discovered that my name was on this

22        list.  And I couldn't understand how it got there.  And I

23        would like to have it removed from this list.  

24                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Now, the person that approached

25        you, did they represent the document as a minimum wage
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1        initiative? 

2                     MS. CERBANTES:  Yes. 

3                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  And did they have other clipboards

4        with them, or was it just one clipboard? 

5                     MS. CERBANTES:  No.  He had another clipboard with

6        him.  He had two, actually.  And he said, "I want you to

7        sign this."  And I was in a hurry, so I didn't really read

8        it.  And he said it was to increase minimum wage.  And I

9        said, "Well, what is minimum wage now?"  And he said, "Like

10        5-something."  I said, "Well, yeah, definitely I want to

11        sign that," so I signed it.  And like I said, I checked

12        online today, and my name was there, and I was very angry. 

13        I feel violated.  I feel like my vote has been stolen.  And

14        it's like, you know, what am I supposed to do now?  Do I

15        need to get an attorney?  I can't believe this. 

16                     MR. SCOTT:  You said you didn't really read the

17        petition? 

18                     MS. CERBANTES:  No. 

19                     MR. SCOTT:  Did you read any of the information on

20        the petition? 

21                     MS. CERBANTES:  No, I can't say that I did. 

22                     MR. SCOTT:  Did you see the words "minimum wage"

23        on the petition? 

24                     MS. CERBANTES:  Unh-unh (negative). 

25                     MR. SCOTT:  Did you see the words "affirmative



51c7974c-dfe1-45d3-ad0a-0cbdedd48ec8

IN THE MATTER OF:  MICHIGAN CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISION HEARING May 22, 2006IN THE MATTER OF:  MICHIGAN CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISION HEARING May 22, 2006

Page 53

1        action" on the petition? 

2                     MS. CERBANTES:  No.  I didn't really read it.  I

3        was in a hurry.  I trusted him.  He said -- he was, like,

4        "You know, hey sis.  I'm this.  We need to raise minimum

5        wage."  And I'm, like, "Yeah, that's good.  We need to do

6        that." 

7                     MR. SCOTT:  And the last two years, have you only

8        signed one petition? 

9                     MS. CERBANTES:  No. 

10                     MR. SCOTT:  What other petitions have you signed? 

11                     MS. CERBANTES:  I signed another one at Madison

12        Food Town. 

13                     MR. SCOTT:  What was that one for?

14                     MS. CERBANTES:  I believe it was the same thing. 

15        I'm not sure about that one, but I believe -- but I would

16        never -- I knew it was not anti-affirmative action.  I would

17        never sign anything like that.  

18                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Any other questions from the

19        Commission?  Thank you very much.  I want to let the folks

20        know who are sitting -- we have a vantage point here.  There

21        are plenty of empty seats in the auditorium.  If you're

22        interested in having a seat, please do so.  We're going to

23        continue.  Kiana Bonner (phonetic), are you present?  And

24        again, I apologize for mispronouncing the name.  Okay. 

25        We're going to continue.  Denise Carde, C-a-r-d-e, are you
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1        present?  Welcome.

2                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

3        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

4                     MS. CARDE:  I do. 

5                     REPORTER:  Please sit down and state your name for

6        the record.

7                     DIRECTOR PARKER:  State your name.  State your

8        name for the record.

9                     MS. CARDE:  My name is Denise Carde. 

10                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome, Denise.  Please proceed.

11                                    DENISE CARDE

12                        having been called and sworn: 

13                     MS. CARDE:  My name is on the list.  My son told

14        me that it was called over the radio.  Other than that, I

15        was at the rally yesterday and saw it was on there also.  I

16        do not remember signing anything against affirmative action. 

17        I would never do anything like that.  Anybody who knows me

18        know I'd never sign anything like that.  I'm very much for

19        civil rights, and I speak about it all the time.  As a

20        nurse, if it wasn't for the nursing shortage I know that

21        chances are I probably wouldn't have a job.  So I'm very

22        much for affirmative action. 

23                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Now, how many petitions have you

24        signed in the last two years, would you estimate?  One, two,

25        three? 
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1                     MS. CARDE:  In the last two years, maybe two.

2                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  And so do you recall

3        anybody approaching you for another petition?  Perhaps it

4        was misrepresented to you as minimum wage, as we've heard

5        from other people here this evening.  Or how do you think

6        that your name was found on that list?

7                     MS. CARDE:  I don't know.  I don't remember

8        anybody approaching me about affirmative action.  I remember

9        at the African American Festival last year there was someone

10        that asked me sign a petition, and it was -- I just remember

11        them saying it was something for -- it wasn't for or against

12        something, but it was something just to give people the

13        ability to make a decision, if they were agreed or disagreed

14        with something.  It wasn't anything specific as far as which

15        way you wanted to vote on it, but just to give people a

16        choice. 

17                     MR. SCOTT:  Did you recall what the substance of

18        it was?  The choice for what? 

19                     MS. CARDE:  It seems like it was about the gay

20        marriage thing.  That's what it seemed like it was about.

21        But I'm not sure. 

22                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Any questions from the Commission?

23        Thank you very much.  Shirley Barry, if you're present.  And

24        then I have a public comment form from -- I believe it's

25        Marsha Palmer Simpson.
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1                     MS. SIMPSON:  Martha. 

2                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Martha.  That's what Linda said it

3        was.  I apologize.  But I'm going to ask -- you're going to

4        be next. 

5                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

6        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

7                     MS. BARRY:  Yes, I do. 

8                     REPORTER:  Take a seat and spell your name for the

9        record. 

10                     MS. BERRY:  S-h-i-r-l-e-y  B-e-r-r-y. 

11                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Great.  Welcome.

12                                    SHIRLEY BERRY

13                         having been called and sworn:

14                     MS. BERRY:  Thank you.  Okay.  The information I'd

15        like to give is that one of the guys I know -- but I'm not

16        going to give his name now, but I know his first name.  So

17        his brother-in-law was asking me to give him a ride to go

18        get the petition so he could start getting signatures and

19        make money.  And he said they were paying a dollar, but they

20        had moved up to a dollar and fifty.  I said, "Okay.  Cool. 

21        Give me some gas, and I'll take you."  So we went down

22        Plymouth.  And, you know, it's Industrial Drive; you turn

23        right.  When you turn right, and you go -- I don't know how

24        to do mileage good.  I'd say about three blocks down.  I

25        know it used to be where Thornapple Valley used to be.  And
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1        if anybody is from Grand Rapids, they know where that is. 

2        And it's, like, this building is on the left-hand side, sit

3        up on, like, a hill, like, and there's like a little pond,

4        like how they have the waterfall.  And you go in the

5        building; you go up to the second floor.  It got assets; I

6        remember that much.  And the door was locked.  So my

7        friend -- I don't want to call his name.  He started, like,

8        knocking on other doors.  We're trying to find this guy,

9        'cause he said he'd get a dollar and fifty for a signature,

10        and he trying to get the petition.  So we went in two doors,

11        and it was one of the rooms, like, where guys was working on

12        computers.  But I don't know exactly the exact address, but

13        I know how to get there, and I could find it out soon. 

14        Because my name is on that paper, and it shouldn't be on

15        there.  When I signed the petition, they said to raise

16        minimum wages, the one I signed.  And then also another guy

17        told me that the place on Industrial Drive that where he got

18        his paper was out on 28th Street by some restaurant.  I just

19        can't recall the name of the restaurant right now.  But I

20        guess it was another different people, whoever they had the

21        petition or whatever. 

22                     MR. SCOTT:  Did you sign the petition that your

23        friend had?

24                     MS. BERRY:  Yeah, I did, though it was supposed to

25        have been for raising minimum wages.
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1                     MR. SCOTT:  That's what your friend told you? 

2                     MS. BERRY:  Uh-huh (affirmative).  And also the

3        FIA building, there was a guy.  I don't know him personally;

4        I just know his face when I see him.  If I ever see him

5        again, I would know him.  I signed a paper there, too.  And

6        I was, like, "I already done signed."  And he's, like, "Oh,

7        it won't hurt.  Go and sign it again."  I did it. 

8                     MR. SCOTT:  Did you ask your friend what the

9        petition was for? 

10                     MS. BERRY:  Yeah.  When I signed his paper he did

11        say for raising minimum wages.

12                     MR. SCOTT:  Did you ever go back to your friend

13        and asked him why he deceived you? 

14                     MS. BERRY:  When I seen him I told him he in

15        trouble; he may get beat up, you know.  I'm not trying to be

16        funny.  But seriously, I was, like, "You got a lot of people

17        probably mad at you."  I said, "They probably going to know

18        your face if they don't know your name." 

19                     MR. SCOTT:  Is this person still your friend? 

20                     MS. BERRY:  Yeah.  I mean, you know, I still speak

21        to him.  

22                     MR. SCOTT:  Did you ask this person why they told

23        you it was minimum wage?

24                     MS. BERRY:  No; no, I didn't.

25                     MR. SCOTT:  Did you ever find out what
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1        instructions your friend got from whoever he picked the

2        petitions up from? 

3                     MS. BERRY:  No.  The only thing he said, he was

4        just getting paid a dollar.  And the other guy was, like,

5        "They pay $1.50."  He's, like, "I need to go back, because

6        they not paying me right."  So it was the matter of getting

7        the money.  But I do know and I did know the location,

8        'cause I took him out there.  But at that time there wasn't

9        nobody there.  It's on Industrial Drive, though. 

10                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you.  

11                     MS. BERRY:  Okay.  Thank you. 

12                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Ms. Simpson. 

13                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

14        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

15                     MS. SIMPSON:  I do.  

16                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Before you begin, Ms. Simpson, I

17        have Mayhue.  Yes, you're next.  Okay.  Go ahead.

18                              MARTHA PALMER SIMPSON

19                         having been called and sworn:

20                     MS. SIMPSON:  For two years these circulators have

21        been around.  Okay?  And being a native of Grand Rapids, I

22        can tell you that most of them are young black men who are

23        down on their luck, have problems, have different issues

24        within their life where they need money.  So they're told

25        for that every signature it's worth a dollar.  So every time
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1        they fill up a sheet they run back with that sheet.  Okay? 

2        So whatever they're told they tell you.  In front of Family

3        Fare on Madison for a month I was stopped at least 30 times

4        going in.  But because I am a reader, and most of the time

5        when I'm going into the store I don't have time -- it's a

6        reason I'm going in there.  And I've seen so many

7        circulators outside, I don't want to stop.  So I said, "What

8        is that for?"  "To keep affirmative action."  I said, "I

9        already signed one" and go on in the store.  "What is it

10        for?"  "Minimum wage."  "I already signed that.  Don't worry

11        about me," and I go on in the store.  Okay?  And each time

12        when I come out the store, they'll ask, going in they'll

13        ask.  And this is about 30 times, like I'm saying, within a

14        month.  They were heavy out there, at least three or four of

15        them in front of the store.  

16                     When I first came across this a couple years ago

17        it was at the other store at the other end of Madison called

18        Clark's.  And a lot of the guys was trying to get me to

19        sign, because I knew a couple of those.  They had a drug

20        problem, and they were trying to get money to go, and they

21        wanted to hurry up and fill up their sheet.  And they

22        started off with minimum wage.  Okay.  "This is for minimum

23        wage."  I didn't read the ones.  But they were telling you,

24        "This is to keep affirmative action."  "Good plan, but I've

25        already signed one," keep going, you know.  And this is the
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1        real reason -- in Grand Rapids, the reason why they've hired

2        so many and they try to get so many signatures, because it

3        wasn't circulators that were working or in a political group

4        or something that was trying to get a real issue on the

5        ballots.  Okay?  It was people who were trying to get that

6        dollar because someone was going to give it to them for that

7        reason.  Okay?  Thank you. 

8                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you.  Any questions?  Thank

9        you.  Quincy Watson; I have that name next.

10                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

11        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

12                     MS. MAYHUE:  I do.  Dannee Mayhue, D-a-n-n-e-e,

13        Mayhue, M-a-y-h-u-e. 

14                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome

15                                    DANNEE MAYHUE

16                         having been called and sworn:

17                     MS. MAYHUE:  Thank you.  And thank you for being

18        here.  Several months ago my husband got a list of names

19        from downtown, and we were sitting down, and he was going

20        through the names, and he said, "Your name is on here."  My

21        husband is a county commissioner.  And my practice before I

22        sign a petition -- because I'm in and out the store

23        sometimes twice a day if not more.  I usually talk to him

24        about it and ask questions before I sign anything; it's just

25        always been a practice.  This I did not sign.  I do not
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1        remember anybody approaching me, asking me any questions. 

2        And I'm wondering, is there some kind of way when people are

3        going to go out to circulate a petition if there's some kind

4        of law that could be passed where they have to have

5        training, they have to be able to have some kind of in-

6        service on what they're doing so they actually know what

7        they're asking people to sign.  Because I'm just wondering,

8        a lot of these people that have passed -- that have asked

9        for these signatures if they actually knew what they were

10        doing.  How many of them were duped?  So I just want to say

11        that I did not sign it.  And I would like to see my

12        signature.  I put a little dash over the last "E" in my

13        name.  And I never sign it as "Dannee Sue Mayhue," because I

14        don't use "Sue."  I just sign "Dannee Mayhue."  So that's

15        basically what I wanted to say. 

16                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you.  Are there any

17        questions from the Commission?  Thank you very much.  

18                     Just as a point of clarification, this body, this

19        Commission, we don't have the power to remove names from any

20        list.  The purpose of this hearing and our effort is to make

21        a record and to make recommendations and produce a report

22        related -- not necessarily recommendations, but a report

23        related to this, and to submit this record, testimony under

24        oath from citizens across the state, for the Supreme Court

25        and other bodies that are deliberating about this right now.
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1        So as much as in some instances your name should be removed,

2        if that's your desire, we lack the authority to make that

3        happen, unfortunately.  Okay?

4                     Quincy Watson, are you here? 

5                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

6        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

7                     MR. WATSON:  Yes. 

8                     REPORTER:  Please sit down and then spell your

9        name. 

10                     MR. WATSON:  How you doing? 

11                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome.  Thank you. 

12                     MR. WATSON:  All right.  Q-u-i-n-c-y, Quincy

13        Watson, W-a-t-s-o-n. 

14                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Quincy, before you begin, I

15        have -- Tanya Hodges I have on deck, if you're here, Tanya. 

16        Okay.  Go ahead.

17                                    QUINCY WATSON

18                         having been called and sworn:

19                     MR. WATSON:  Okay.  I seen you guys on the news

20        this afternoon.  And I have a friend who was circulating the

21        petitions, and I've known her for awhile.  And she had the

22        petitions about a year ago, and she had four petitions.  She

23        had one for affirmative action.  She had one to get rid of

24        the small business tax.  She had another one dealing with

25        the casinos and the lottery.  And I think the fourth -- I



51c7974c-dfe1-45d3-ad0a-0cbdedd48ec8

IN THE MATTER OF:  MICHIGAN CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISION HEARING May 22, 2006IN THE MATTER OF:  MICHIGAN CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISION HEARING May 22, 2006

Page 64

1        don't remember what the fourth was.  Oh, it's the one

2        they've been mentioning here, the --   

3                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Minimum wage? 

4                     MR. WATSON:  -- raising of minimum wage.  Okay. 

5        These were all individual petitions.  Now, she spoke to me

6        about the affirmative action, and I sat there and I looked. 

7        And she said, you know -- she's my friend.  They get $1.50

8        per signature; they're paid.  They get $1.50.  So I sit

9        there, and she says -- you know, to help a friend out I read

10        each of the petitions.  I signed the small business, because

11        that's one thing that I think should be gotten rid of.  The

12        casinos I didn't know too much about, so I left it alone. 

13        The affirmative action; she insisted that it was to help

14        keep and keep affirmative action.  So I sat down and I read

15        it.  And I said, "No, that's not what this is for.  This is

16        dealing with the U of M cases, the colleges and the things

17        like that."  And me and her got into this big thing about

18        it.  And so I said, "Take me to this guy.  I want to talk to

19        him."  So I went down there, and I talked to this guy.  It

20        was a gentleman and his wife running the office.  And I sat

21        there in the chair and waited.  And she insisted, because

22        she didn't really understand the petition herself.  And so I

23        spoke to the dude, and I sat there.  And she says to him --

24        she says, "Tell him this is to keep affirmative action." 

25        And I'm sitting there looking at him, like, "Yeah, tell me
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1        that, you know.  Tell me that this is for that, 'cause I've

2        read it."  And he didn't want to talk to me.  He didn't talk

3        to me for awhile.  And then after that, you know, he ended

4        up -- because I sat there and I waited.  And then he finally

5        sat down and had a conversation with me about it, and we

6        both -- it was a friendly conversation.  But, you know, I

7        told her -- I said, "You're going to have people crazy about

8        this when it comes out," you know, because you can't put a

9        political item and then cloud it up for folks, because

10        you'll have a group of people like you got back here, you

11        know, feeling -- to get rid of affirmative action would be a

12        beautiful thing if we could trust people to do, you know,

13        the right thing. It would be a beautiful thing.  But this

14        right here is proof that we can't trust that system to body

15        (sic) itself. 

16                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Quincy, let me ask you a question.

17        The place that you -- where you went to meet this -- the man

18        and woman who were running the office --  

19                     MR. WATSON:  I can find out his name.  I called

20        her today to talk to her, and I tried to get her to come

21        down here with me, because I have -- I have some deep-seated

22        issues about me and my community and what we need to do to

23        get better.  But there is some things on our part, and then

24        are some things on the folks who have over the years put us

25        in the situation that we are in.  
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1                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Was it your impression at this

2        office that they were functioning out of --  

3                     MR. WATSON:  They told everybody that.  They sent

4        these people out here to -- people who -- it was a young

5        lady who was just here probably about two people ago, and

6        she said that there were guys and young women who are about

7        getting the money.  And it was $1.50.  You can imagine if

8        you get paid $1.50 per signature and you get 400 or 500

9        signatures, you're getting a nice check.  So, you know, I

10        don't know.  Someone said that they read off if -- to

11        increase the minimum wage.  I don't know if my name may have

12        been taken off of one of the ballots and put on another,

13        because I signed one of them.  But, you know, at the same

14        time it's -- I knew that the deception from the affirmative

15        action point, they had affirmative action at the top of the

16        ballot, and it was affirmative action initiative as if it

17        was supportive of, but then once you get to read the fine

18        print under it, you're like, "Okay.  Wait a minute.  They're

19        trying to get rid of admissions into colleges, for jobs, to

20        look at a person and, you know -- and like I say, it would

21        be a beautiful thing for that to occur, but we ain't ready

22        for that. 

23                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Are there any other questions from

24        the Commission? 

25                     MR. ABDRABBOH:  I have one.  You said you went to
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1        an office; right? 

2                     MR. WATSON:  Yeah. 

3                     MR. ABDRABBOH:  Do you remember where that

4        office -- 

5                     MR. WATSON:  I can't -- that's why I say, I want

6        to go -- I'm going to try to talk to her.  I seen it on the

7        news, 'cause right now I'm laid -- I used to work at the

8        Lear plant on Alpine.  I'm laid off, so I sleep all day. 

9        And I got up, and I seen the 6:00 o'clock news, and I

10        looked, and I didn't know it was going on.  I'm going to try

11        to talk to her and find out, 'cause I can't remember the

12        guy's name or the office that we went to, 'cause I rode out

13        there with her, and this was, like, a year ago.  And 'cause

14        she sat there and insisted.  We basically had a little spat

15        about it.  I'm, like, "This is not for affirmative action. 

16        If you want me -- you take me down there to talk to this guy

17        and have him tell me the same thing."  And it ended up he

18        couldn't tell me.  He started to explain why affirmative

19        action should be dealt with in its current state, why it

20        should be changed.  And, you know -- and I said, "Well, why

21        don't you just put that out there to people in the real way

22        instead of telling your workers that this is what this is

23        for?"  Because you got a lot of elderly who don't -- they're

24        going to listen to what you say a lot of the times, 'cause

25        they're trustworthy, and some younger folks who just ain't
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1        reading and paying attention to what's on the paper, you

2        know.

3                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Quincy, thank you very much.  

4                     MR. CALILLE:  I do have just one question.  You

5        had indicated that your friend was perhaps -- didn't

6        understand the initiative. 

7                     MR. WATSON:  Yeah. 

8                     MR. CALILLE:  And you went and talked to the

9        individual. 

10                     MR. WATSON:  Yeah.

11                     MR. CALILLE:  Did he indicate what he had been

12        telling the people when he gave them the petitions? 

13                     MR. WATSON:  What he did to indicate what he was

14        telling, he didn't say it, but he avoided me.  When I sat

15        there, I sat and I waited and I spoke just like I'm speaking

16        to you all.  I sat and I waited, and I watched him go

17        through all these -- you know, he had workers there, so he

18        was busy.  And my friend, she asked him, and I sat and I

19        watched her ask him.  "Can you go" -- she says, "Can you go

20        over here and explain to him that this is for civil rights? 

21        This is to keep civil rights."  He looked up, and then he

22        looked back down, and at the point where he didn't have

23        anything to do he sat there and waited.  And she's, like,

24        "Come on.  Go tell him," you know.  He's, like, "I don't" --

25        you know, he didn't want to talk about it.  So then when he
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1        seen that I wasn't leaving, he came over and he sat down and

2        he talked to me about it.  He seems like a nice man.  But, I

3        mean, you know, we got to speaking about children.  And, you

4        know, I said, "You got kids.  If you really want to do

5        something, look at the public schools and what's going on

6        there first before you start stopping people from going to

7        college, because the kids in the inner cities don't have an

8        equal playing field that the kids in suburbs have.  They've

9        got the money, the books, the millages."  Millages can be

10        increased because the people in the suburbs can pay for

11        that.  But the people in the inner city, sometimes they're

12        not going to approve a higher millage so that they -- you

13        know, the kids can have orchestra and the things that, you

14        know, help you go way beyond just your own -- where you're

15        at, you know. 

16                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Quincy, just a very quick

17        concluding question for you that I have.  You indicated a

18        second ago that your friend said that -- she insisted that

19        it was to help keep affirmative action in your conversation

20        with her. 

21                     MR. WATSON:  Yeah. 

22                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  And that your conversation with

23        the gentleman at the office said that it was for civil

24        rights.  Did this person at the office say it was to keep

25        affirmative action, or did he say that it was --  
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1                     MR. WATSON:  This person went into -- in his

2        conversation with me he knew that -- he knew that I knew

3        what he was doing, and he went -- instead he went on the

4        defensive about why it should be changed to, you know, no

5        preference on race, creed, color, anything like that.  And I

6        told him -- I said, "That's a beautiful idea.  I want to see

7        that happen some day." 

8                     MR. SCOTT:  Do you know if your friend continued

9        to circulate petitions after hearing --  

10                     MR. WATSON:  She still circulates petitions to

11        this day. 

12                     MR. SCOTT:  No.  This particular petition with

13        regard to affirmative action, did she continue to --  

14                     MR. WATSON:  That one -- 

15                     MR. SCOTT:  Can I finish my question? 

16                     MR. WATSON:  Sorry. 

17                     MR. SCOTT:  Did she continue to circulate this

18        particular petition after she heard this individual give you

19        this explanation about why affirmative action -- why the law

20        should change?

21                     MR. WATSON:  I didn't -- I really didn't pay

22        attention to whether or not if she did, if she stopped. 

23        What I think is that that petition -- I don't know if it

24        went out --  

25                     MR. SCOTT:  I'm just asking you about that
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1        particular petition.  Either you know or you don't know. 

2                     MR. WATSON:  Yeah, it seems like she said

3        something like it was done with, just like the small

4        business tax at a certain point, the petition was done with,

5        you know, once Granholm passed it or didn't pass it.

6                     MR. SCOTT:  Thank you.  

7                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Tanya

8        Hodges, are you here?  Tanya?

9                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

10        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

11                     MS. HODGES:  Yes. 

12                     REPORTER:  Please sit down and spell your name for

13        the record. 

14                     MS. HODGES:  My name is Tanya, T-a-n-y-a, Hodges. 

15                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Tanya, welcome.  Thank you for

16        being here.

17                                    TANYA HODGES

18                         having been called and sworn:

19                     MS. HODGES:  Hi.  I've been living in Grand Rapids

20        for 32 years.  And I did sign a petition, but it was a

21        petition for taxes, to raise minimum wages.  I signed a

22        petition to keep small business taxes, and I signed a

23        petition for a casino.  And I know a couple of the people

24        that I signed a petition with, but I don't want to give

25        their name up.  I wrote it on that paper.  Two of them is my



51c7974c-dfe1-45d3-ad0a-0cbdedd48ec8

IN THE MATTER OF:  MICHIGAN CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISION HEARING May 22, 2006IN THE MATTER OF:  MICHIGAN CIVIL RIGHTS COMMISION HEARING May 22, 2006

Page 72

1        god-sisters.  And she came to me and told me that it was to

2        raise minimum wage.  I'm furious that my name's on here. 

3        But what I'm really mad about is my grandmother.  She's 75

4        years old; she has dementia; she walks on a cane; she can't

5        read or write.  And her name was on there.  And I don't see

6        how her name could have got on there, because she just got

7        of Pine Rest.  And I feel that her name should not be on

8        there, and it should be removed.  And I also was approached

9        by a guy down at the Hall of Justice. 

10                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  And when you were approached --

11        let's talk about that, that experience.  That individual who

12        approached you, what did they say to you about -- were they

13        gathering signatures for the affirmative action initiative? 

14                     MS. HODGES:  No. 

15                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Oh, they were not?  Okay.  Did you

16        sign the affirmative action -- anything related to the

17        affirmative action initiative?

18                     MS. HODGES:  No. 

19                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Your mother did, though; is that

20        correct? 

21                     MS. HODGES:  My grandmother. 

22                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Your grandmother? 

23                     MS. HODGES:  She said she signed no petition, but

24        her name was on there.  And she don't even know how to read

25        or write.  So they must have got her name out of the phone
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1        book. 

2                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  Are there any questions? 

3                     DIRECTOR PARKER:  I have a quick question.  Was

4        your grandmother in the rest home last year?  I mean, when

5        did she -- when was she released? 

6                     MS. HODGES:  She was in Pine Rest this year and

7        part of last year.  She stayed in there, like, a couple of

8        months and got out, and then she went back.  She just got

9        out, like, two months ago, and she was in there, like,

10        January to, like, March. 

11                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Do you know if the signature

12        was -- if her signature was dated during the period of time

13        that she was in the rest home?

14                     MS. HODGES:  I don't know. 

15                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  You don't know.  Okay. 

16                     DIRECTOR PARKER:  It has to be dated, I think, on

17        the ballots, petitions. 

18                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  Tanya, thank you very much.

19        Georgia McGhee, M-c-G-h-e-e, are you here?  Welcome.  And

20        then I have Rachel Merritt next, and then Mona Sallie.

21                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

22        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

23                     MS. MCGHEE:  I do. 

24                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome.

25
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1                                   GEORGIA MCGHEE

2                         having been called and sworn:

3                     MS. MCGHEE:  Thank you.  Good evening.  And I'd

4        like to thank you for coming and allowing me to speak before

5        you.  My daughter called me last week, and she said, "I just

6        heard your name on the radio, that you had signed a petition 

7        banning affirmative action."  I am an ex-official of the

8        Michigan Women's Commission, Coalition of Labor Union Women,

9        and the international vice president of AFSCME.  I could

10        not, would not be a part of those organizations and sign to

11        ban affirmative action.  So I understood you to say a few

12        minutes ago that you did not have the authority to remove

13        names.  But I want it made clear -- and being on those

14        organizations, and you know what they are, labor -- we

15        definitely back affirmative action.  We are for the working

16        class.  And for the past 15 years I have worked very hard to

17        see that everybody get equal pay that we could.  And I think

18        affirmative action should be based on your skill, your

19        knowledge, and if you're qualified regardless of the race or

20        your religion.  And in Grand Rapids we need a little bit

21        more of that around here.  Thank you. 

22                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Any

23        questions?  Thank you.  Rachel Merritt, are you present? 

24        Great, Rachel.  Thank you.  Mona Sallie is next and then

25        Kathleen Steele.
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1                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

2        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

3                     MS. MERRITT:  Yes. 

4                     REPORTER:  Please sit down and spell your name for

5        the record. 

6                     MS. MERRITT:  The first name is Rachel, R-a-c-h-e-

7        l, last name is Merritt, that's M-e-r-r-i-t-t. 

8                                   RACHEL MERRITT

9                         having been called and sworn:

10                     MS. MERRITT:  And first of all I'd just like to

11        say welcome to you all.  Thank you for coming.  I want to be

12        just very brief.  I wasn't going to say anything at all. 

13        But I, too, was approached.  And I'm not from the Grand

14        Rapids area, but I've lived here long enough to be

15        considered a Grand Rapidian.  I was approached in two

16        different areas.  One was at the FIA department here in

17        Grand Rapids, approached by a young lady and a young man. 

18        The young lady had the small business tax, to do away with

19        the small business tax.  I own my own business.  I thought,

20        "Great.  That would be nice," so of course I signed that

21        petition.  The other young man did have the -- it was three

22        petitions that they had.  One was the small business.  The

23        other gentleman -- they did have the affirmative action. 

24        And again, I asked him, "What was that about?"  He said,

25        "Read it."  I said, "I don't have time to read it," because
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1        I was on my way to another business meeting, had to drop off

2        some papers and keep going.  I'd just like to say I believe

3        that we, too, have to just begin to read what we are

4        signing.  But this young man did not even know what he was

5        presenting to the voters.  And I asked him specifically,

6        "What is it about?"  And he said, "Oh, it's to save

7        affirmative action."  I can say I did not read it, and I

8        signed it.  I also met the same young man at the gas station

9        on Michigan and Fuller, which another young lady just

10        brought up, and that's why I said I'm going to get up and

11        say something.  This young man approached me as I was

12        getting out of my car.  I says, "What is it regarding?"  And

13        when he said whatever he said -- I was on my way out of

14        town -- I did not stop.  He approached another lady in the

15        car and pumped her gas so that she could sign the piece of

16        paper.  And she was a white young lady, and she was asking

17        him, "What is it about?"  Again he responded to her, "I

18        don't know.  Here.  Read it."  

19                     If we are going to be given something, and we're

20        not sure what we're giving out, why is the public given

21        something -- everybody don't read and write, but we have

22        voting rights.  We have the opportunity to vote.  Why are we

23        given something and they don't even know what they are

24        giving out and handing out?  Somebody is trying to allow

25        someone else to make money, but it's at our expense.  That's
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1        my answers.

2                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you.  

3                     MS. MERRITT:  You're welcome. 

4                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Are there any questions?  Thank

5        you very much. 

6                     MS. MERRITT:  Thank you for listening. 

7                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Mona Sallie.  Hello. 

8                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

9        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

10                     MS. SALLIE:  Yes, I do. 

11                     REPORTER:  Please sit down and spell your name for

12        the record. 

13                     MS. SALLIE:  My name is Mona Sallie, M-o-n-a  S-a-

14        l-l-i-e.

15                                     MONA SALLIE

16                         having been called and sworn:

17                     MS. SALLIE:  And my testimony is this:  One of the

18        first names on the petition happens to be a friend of mine.  

19        And we were at the radio station talking to Robert S, and he

20        brought it to our attention, that our friend's name was on

21        the list.  So we called a relative of his who called him. 

22        And he was very angry.  He was supposed to be down here

23        today, but he this on dialysis, so that's maybe the reason

24        why he's not here.  But he said he was approached while at

25        dialysis.  There are people out there right now still having
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1        people sign up for affirmative action, you know, to keep it. 

2        There are people still out there having people sign up, like

3        at Ace Hardware for the small business taxes.  I think that

4        the petitions should be stopped until we find out what is

5        what.  I think all petitions should be stopped immediately

6        until we find out what's legitimate and what's not.  I think

7        it's a cruel joke that's being played on all of us that we

8        ourselves would sell ourselves down the river.  It's not

9        funny.  I think that whoever started this should go to

10        prison.  They should go to prison.  And Mrs. Palmer was

11        talking about the young men and young ladies that are down

12        on their luck.  I don't think that they should be persecuted

13        at all.  I don't think that they should be prosecuted at

14        all.  I think they should be educated.  You know, it

15        really -- they found a legitimate way to make a living, and

16        now they're being punished for it.  Maybe if they know that

17        they're not going to be prosecuted they will come forth on

18        their own and help you catch these culprits.  These people

19        need to go to prison.  My sister and I have signed several,

20        several petitions.  I don't know if my name is on there or

21        not.  But I know that I have been approached and I have

22        signed.  I would like a full list of all of the names so we

23        will know exactly how far and how deep this goes.  And

24        whoever started this, I want them to go to jail.  And I

25        think there should be a class action suit.  Thank you. 
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1        Thank you very much for coming.  We really appreciate this. 

2        Thank you. 

3                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you for being here.  Thank

4        you.  Are there any questions?  Kathleen Steele, are you

5        present? 

6                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

7        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

8                     MS. STEELE:  Yes, I do. 

9                     REPORTER:  Have a seat and spell your name for the

10        record. 

11                                  KATHLEEN STEELE

12                         having been called and sworn:

13                     MS. STEELE:  Good evening.  My name is Kathleen

14        Steele, K-a-t-h-l-e-e-n  S-t-e-e-l-e.  And I'm a resident of

15        Kent County.  In 2004 and -5, I served as a deputized clerk

16        registering voters for the county clerk.  It wasn't the kind

17        of thing where you did the long form and then sent it in. 

18        It was the kind of deal where when I registered a voter they

19        were done.  And it meant that if they went away to college

20        the next year that the kids could petition for absentee

21        ballot, which was a lot of thing -- it was important to me

22        that a lot of high school student who were registering to

23        vote were using the wrong system to register and then would

24        be disenfranchised in their first presidential election.  So

25        for about a six-month period during which I was unemployed,
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1        that's one of the things that I did to keep myself sane, is

2        I volunteered and got deputized to do this work.  And I was

3        out in the community when I wasn't looking for work,

4        registering voters.  And I was at college campuses; I was

5        out at parks; I was in many places where I could run into

6        people and just start having conversation about getting

7        registered.  And the reason I wanted to speak to you tonight

8        is that I was stunned when I met articulate, well-educated,

9        well-informed people who refused to register to vote.  And

10        the reason they told me that they didn't want to register

11        was because they thought the system was so badly broken that

12        if they participated in it it would be tacit approval of how

13        broken it is.  I was not prepared to deal with that kind of

14        refusal.  I was expecting all the typical stereotypical

15        things that we hear about why people don't vote.  Instead I

16        found people who just didn't want to participate in

17        something as broken as our system is.  

18                     The reason I came tonight was because I've talked

19        to people who have been personally approached as the

20        testimonies that you've heard earlier tonight.  And what I

21        want to say to you is please be courageous, because you're

22        the folks who are in a position now to be able to help

23        restore some confidence in this system.  Many of the people

24        who have already decided to check out of the system have

25        done so because of issues like this.  These are the kinds of
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1        things that they talk to me about, voter fraud.  They talk

2        to me about petition fraud.  And if people don't step up --

3        and you have the power and position to be able to do that. 

4        I encourage you to please be courageous.  It can't be an

5        easy road that you're going down.  And I just wanted to

6        offer that perspective and applaud your bravery in doing

7        what you've done so far and just ask if there are things

8        that the public can do to help support you in your work, to

9        let us know what those things are, because you shouldn't

10        have to go it alone.  Thank you.  

11                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Are there

12        any questions for Ms. Steele?  Thank you very much.  

13                     I want to -- I just was handed a note also.  Two

14        things.  One is it's approaching 8:20.  We need to end at

15        8:30.  So I just -- as indicated at the beginning, we

16        obviously will not be able to get through all of these

17        forms.  We're going to do our very best to move as quickly

18        through the rest of this as possible   Anybody that we're

19        not able to get to we absolutely want to receive from you an

20        affidavit of some kind, and we will make efforts to make

21        sure that your voice is recorded and testimony is taken on

22        this matter.  On that topic, if anybody has -- at previous

23        hearings we have been presented with affidavits from

24        individuals who were not able to be here, who had to leave

25        and the like.  If you have an affidavit or a group of
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1        affidavits and you wish to submit them and incorporate them

2        into the record, please find one of the members of the

3        department.  Just bring them up to us now or immediately

4        after we're done, and we'll make that happen.  

5                     Janice Wilkin or Wilkin (pronouncing), W-i-l-k-i-

6        n, I believe, if you're still here?  Donna Stern, are you

7        present?  Welcome.

8                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

9        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

10                     MS. STERN:  I do. 

11                     REPORTER:  Please have a seat and spell your name.

12                     MS. STERN:  Donna, D-o-n-n-a, Stern, S-t-e-r-n. 

13                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you.  Go ahead.

14                                     DONNA STERN

15                         having been called and sworn:

16                     MS. STERN:  I just wanted to address the

17        Commission tonight to just explain the experience that I had

18        today.  There's another DJ in Muskegon who took up and did

19        what Robert S did but in Muskegon.  And we were interviewed,

20        and he started calling out names on our way.  We were

21        interviewed at 2:00 o'clock, and we were on the air at 2:00

22        o'clock.  And I did not get off the phone for people calling

23        my number to tell me that they had been duped into signing. 

24        Literally I had to turn off my phone, and it's been buzzing

25        constantly.  I've taken at least 45 names from 2:00 to, you
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1        know, when this meeting started at 6:00  And I just want to

2        communicate that people were -- their reaction was anger;

3        they were dumbfounded; they were furious.  They were so

4        upset they were yelling at me even though they knew it was

5        not me, that I was trying to fix the problem.  But they were

6        just furious.  And most of all I really want to echo what

7        the last speaker said.  They wanted to know what was being

8        done.  They wanted to know what action is going to be taken

9        to make this right wrong, because they were like -- they --

10        and when I told them that this evidence had been brought

11        forward a year ago by BAMN, that we had put it before the

12        Board of Canvassers, that there was not a politician in the

13        state legislature that hasn't known about this for at least

14        six months, they were even more furious.  They just --

15        basically they were, like, "Well, what's the point?  What's

16        the point of voting?  Obviously our votes are taken for

17        granted, but they're not going to be anymore, because we are

18        not going to continue to support" -- that's what they were

19        saying to me.  "We're not going to continue to support

20        politicians that don't fight for us."  

21                     And I just think that just as the one before me

22        said, this Commission has the potential, the opportunity to

23        give some people some confidence; that the people who claim

24        to make promises for them stand by those promises; the

25        people who claim to stand for affirmative action actually
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1        try to do something to maintain affirmative action.  And,

2        you know, I just couldn't believe it.  And I'm sure that

3        when I leave this meeting and I pick up my messages I will

4        have another 40 messages, because it didn't stop.  I had to

5        keep putting people -- saying, "I'll call you back.  I'll

6        call you back.  I'll call you back."  And, you know, so --

7        and that's in a period of, you know, 2 1/2 hours, and I took

8        over 40 calls.  And I just want to also say that, you know,

9        I have over 60 written affidavits from phone calls that were

10        made.  They're from Benton Harbor; they're from Ann Arbor;

11        they're from Detroit; they're from Flint.  This is since the

12        Flint and Lansing hearings.  They're from --  

13                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  These are new; correct? 

14                     MS. STERN:  These are new.  These are ones you

15        have not seen before.  And from Grand Rapids of people who

16        have signed, plus -- I don't know.  Heather would know.  We

17        have -- we have 63 affidavits that were signed at this

18        meeting tonight of people who found out that their names

19        were on that list, and they want action taken.  It's not

20        enough to take evidence.  You've got to take action.  And

21        that's what I want to say tonight. 

22                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you, Donna -- can you

23        please -- thank you. 

24                     MS. STERN:  We have one technical problem, and

25        that's just the 60 we got here today we don't have copies
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1        of, and I don't know if there's some way --  

2                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  That's fine. 

3                     MR. WIRTH:  If you could, copy them and send them

4        to me.

5                     MS. STERN:  We can do that.  These are the ones

6        that have been copied.

7                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  We'll find a way to make sure that

8        we accommodate that logistical issue.  And if you could,

9        just connect with George and figure out a -- and George will

10        work out an approach to that.  Thank you very much.  Sarah

11        Smith, are you present?  

12                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

13        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

14                     MS. SMITH:  I do. 

15                     REPORTER:  Please take a seat and spell your name.

16                     MS. SMITH:  My name is Sarah, S-a-r-a-h, middle

17        initial A, last name is Smith, S-m-i-t-h. 

18                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Welcome, Sarah.

19                                   SARAH A. SMITH

20                         having been called and sworn:

21                     MS. SMITH:  Sorry.  I've got to get that thing

22        situated.  One day as I was leaving Madison Family Foods,

23        Family Fare, which I frequent 10 to 12 times a week, an

24        African American male approximately 5'10, 145 to 165, in his

25        early 30's, dark complexion, short hair, thin mustache and
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1        goatee and a rough complexion, approached me and said,

2        "Excuse me, ma'am."  I turned to give him my usual spiel,

3        that there's no panhandling allowed on the plaza and that if

4        he didn't leave the police would be called, because I did

5        not see his clipboard.  He said, "Oh, no.  I'm here to know

6        if you believe in affirmative action."  I said, "Absolutely,

7        yes."  He says, "Well, I'm here with this petition to save

8        affirmative action, and by signing so you would.  Would you

9        please sign?"  I asked him if I could see the bag and any ID

10        that he would have.  He said, "No, I don't have any ID.  And

11        the bag, there's nothing on the bag."  He flipped it up, and

12        true enough, there was not.  He said there wasn't anything

13        back there.  But he said, "You can read what they told me to

14        say."  He was told to say, "Do you support affirmative

15        action?  If so, we need to work together to save it by

16        putting it on the ballot for November.  Please keep

17        affirmative action alive.  We need you to sign now."  

18                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Is that -- I don't mean to

19        interrupt you.  But that was a script that was affixed to

20        the back of his clipboard? 

21                     MS. SMITH:  That was a script that he had.  Yes,

22        that was a script that he was to -- 

23                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Will you read that back again,

24        please? 

25                     MS. SMITH:  He said it said, "Do you support
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1        affirmative action?  If so, we need to work together to save

2        it by putting it on the ballot for November.  Please keep

3        affirmative action alive.  We need you to sign now."  Being

4        the conscientious community organizer and civic mindedness,

5        I signed.  And as I signed I mentioned that my husband would

6        be here shortly to the store to get his dinner, and he would

7        probably no doubt want to sign.  He told me, "Well, why

8        don't you save him some time and you sign for him?"  I told

9        him, "Absolutely not."  The whole interaction left me a

10        little unsettled.  So I went back to my office, and I went

11        back up there.  I said, "Now, you know what?  Something's

12        not right."  I wanted to scratch my name off, but I could

13        not find the young man.  After the names started being said

14        on WJNZ -- and Robert, I tried to get in there to tell 

15        don't read mine.   My organization started receiving calls

16        from residents who were embarrassed, angry, bewildered and

17        wanted to know what they could do to get their names off the

18        petitions, because they felt that they had been deceived. 

19        Being in a community 30 years, many of those folk have my

20        home number, so you can imagine what I did the following

21        weekend with all the calls.  As a community organizer in an

22        area that is nearly 83 percent minority, trying to get

23        people engaged and interact with their community and what

24        matters to their very lives is extremely difficult to do. 

25        But now this?  I am with the individual who said there
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1        should be a class action lawsuit, because they have just

2        made my job doubly difficult.  

3                     As a suggestion, perhaps prior to anyone

4        circulating a petition the originator should have to bring

5        the petition to a community body for prior approval.  And

6        all those that are circulating now should be disallowed. 

7        The petitions that have been presented to me for signature

8        have been the casino, inmate rights, minimum wage, single

9        business tax, affirmative action.  Quite frankly at this

10        point in time I have yet to have a conversation with the

11        owner of the Madison Square Plaza, but we may be asking that

12        no one is allowed to petition on the plaza whatsoever; that

13        we put them in the same category as panhandlers.  I want to

14        go in and out my stores without being harassed.  You get

15        harassed going in; you get harassed going out.  And, yes,

16        they did.  They took individuals that were hardshipped, sold

17        them a pipe dream and gave them some dollars.  They were

18        abused and misused.  And in our community we don't stand for

19        that.  And don't let me have to call old ladies, because

20        they ruffled, which I'm one, and come stand before Jennifer

21        Granholm.  They want their names -- I want my name off this

22        petition, and I want it off now. 

23                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Thank you very much, Sarah.  Are

24        there any questions from the Commission?  It is approaching

25        8:30.  I will do two more.  Kimberly Coleman and Pete
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1        Hickey, if you're still here?  Is Kimberly here?  Okay. 

2        Pete Hickey, are you here?  No?  Okay.  We'll do one more,

3        Terry Tilmon, if you're here.  Is Terry here?  Welcome.

4                     REPORTER:  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

5        the testimony you're about to give will be the whole truth? 

6                     MR. TILMON:  Yes, I do. 

7                     REPORTER:  Please take a seat and spell your name.

8                     MR. TILMON:  My name is Terry Tilmon, T-e-r-r-y 

9        T-i-l-m-o-n.

10                                    TERRY TILMON

11                         having been called and sworn:

12                     MR. TILMON:  I just had a few phone calls, and

13        people was telling me that my name was on the radio station. 

14        I never signed nothing.  Nobody never approached me for

15        nothing.  So I don't know how my name got on there.  So I'm

16        just on the record to get my name off of there. 

17                     DIRECTOR PARKER:  You don't remember signing any

18        ballot petitions during the last year or two? 

19                     MR. TILMON:  No, nothing. 

20                     DIRECTOR PARKER:  Just nothing. 

21                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  And yet you were informed that

22        your name had been on a list of people who had signed a

23        petition supporting the MCRI? 

24                     MR. TILMON:  My name was on the radio.  They had

25        called my name on the radio. 
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1                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  On the radio?

2                     MR. TILMON:  Yeah.  So people started calling me,

3        and I'm like, "What's going on?"  So I went out in my truck

4        to listen to see what was going on, but I never heard my

5        name, but I just heard that I was on there, so I just wanted

6        to be on the record. 

7                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I appreciate

8        it.  Let me end by saying the following:  I know that we did

9        not get through probably more than half.  There are many,

10        many people who were in this room who weren't able to speak

11        tonight because of our time requirements, and God knows

12        there's many, potentially hundreds or thousands more, who

13        weren't able to make it to these events, didn't know about

14        these events, and their voices therefore weren't heard.  So

15        I want to thank everybody who came tonight.  I want to urge

16        you to be engaged and involved in this issue whichever side

17        of this you're on, because I think that this process has

18        been one that is restorative in terms of faith in the

19        system.  And your words of encouragement and urging to do

20        something about this are taken to heart.  And we intend to

21        continue this process in a very, very meaningful and, we

22        hope, productive and effective way.

23                     MS. MARI JELKS:  Mr. Bernstein, before you close,

24        can you tell us for the general public what is the next

25        step? 
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1                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Sure. 

2                     MS. JELKS:  I understand you all are going to do

3        a -- compile a report.  What's going to happen with the

4        report?

5                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Let me tell you what the plans

6        are.  This is, as everybody knows, the fourth and very

7        likely our final hearing.  The issue -- and there are people

8        in the room who can probably correct me if I'm not getting

9        this exactly correct.  But the Supreme Court has ruled once,

10        and a motion for reconsideration has been filed.  Our

11        Commission has been engaged in that process at the

12        reconsideration level.  In other words, we have filed a

13        motion to stay the proceedings until we are done with this

14        process, gathering evidence under oath, testimony from

15        individuals related to fraud, voter fraud -- for putting

16        this on the ballot in November.  So we filed that motion. 

17        It's at the Supreme Court.  We are rushing to conclude this

18        investigation to produce a report; that part of it will

19        include the four hearings.  I don't know how many hours it's

20        been, George, but at least a dozen, maybe 15, maybe 20 --

21        not 20, but probably 15 hours of testimony from individuals

22        across the state, from Mt. Pleasant to Kalamazoo to Benton

23        Harbor, Detroit, Flint and all over.  That is going to be

24        presented at the Supreme Court.  At the end of the day I'll

25        just concede to everybody, I wish our Commission had more
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1        power than it does, to be very honest. 

2                     MS. JELKS:  But has the Supreme Court agreed to

3        hear this case?  And if so, when is it scheduled to be

4        heard, the motion?  I'm an attorney, so -- 

5                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  Sure; sure.  No; no; no.  Those

6        are good questions.  The Supreme Court has not ruled yet on

7        whether it's going to reconsider their earlier ruling.  Is

8        that correct, George?

9                     MR. WIRTH:  That's correct.  We filed application

10        for leave to file an Amicus to support Operation King's

11        Dream's request for reconsideration.  They have not told us

12        we could file, but they have not told us we can't.  Normally

13        if they don't tell you you can't, they allow you to file. 

14                     MS. JELKS:  So are you trying to stay the action

15        from being on the ballot for November, then? 

16                     MR. WIRTH:  Yes.  That's Operation King's Dream's

17        motion that we're filing a Friend of the Court brief to

18        support which will include all the testimony that was given

19        at the four hearings plus other information that we've been

20        gathering. 

21                     MR. BERNSTEIN:  And let me add this:  We are -- we

22        have invited representatives of MCRI to participate in these

23        hearings.  We have had individuals who have been deeply,

24        intensely engaged with MCRI, in particular at the Lansing

25        meeting, up here before us.  And we are going to produce,
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1        you know, a written record under oath of people who have

2        been aggrieved by this and deliver it to the doorstep of the

3        Secretary of State, of the Board of Canvassers and the Board

4        of Elections, of the Secretary of State, of the Attorney

5        General, and the Governor.  And additionally we have

6        issued -- I issued personally on my signature an order to

7        MCRI to comply with and to deliver and produce documentation

8        related to the circulation activities of their circulators.  

9                     And so I just want to let everybody here know that

10        we are executing to the fullest possible power every one of

11        the tools in our toolbelt, so to speak, to get to the bottom

12        of this.  And your voices and your attendance and your work

13        and testimony clearly -- I just want to applaud the work of

14        the media in this.  The radio activity in this has been

15        extraordinary.  It's remarkable.  So I thank you and ask you

16        to hold us to task, because we have a job to do, and we are

17        glad that you have been here.  So thank you.  If you were

18        not able to speak and you wish to speak, please find a

19        member of the department to make sure that you're able to

20        produce an affidavit or submit something.  Thank you very

21        much.  We're adjourned.

22                     (Exhibits 1 through 3 marked)

23                     (Hearing concluded at 8:35 p.m. )

24

25                                       -0-0-0- 



